
Sierra County Commission 
Sierra County Commission Chambers 

1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, NM 87901 
Tuesday, February 18th, 2025 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

ALL MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC WILL BE ABLE TO WATCH AND LISTEN TO MEETING VIA: 
(http://www.facebook.com/profile.php?id=100068317226897) 

(https://www.youtube.com/@SierraCountyCommission) 
 

Call to Order: 10:00 AM Regular Meeting 
 
Roll Call: Travis Day-Chairman   Amy Whitehead-Clerk 
  James E. Paxon-Vice-Chair   Nance, Pato & Stout, LLC-Attorney 
  Hank Hopkins-Commissioner  Amber Vaughn-County Manager 
 
Pledge Of Allegiance 
 
New Mexico State Flag Pledge-I salute the flag of the State of New Mexico and the Zia symbol of perfect 
friendship among united cultures.  
 
 Introduction of Guests  
 

I. Approval of Agenda: 
II. Approval of Minutes: 

A. Regular Meeting – January 28th, 2024 
III. Public Comment: Limited to 3 Minutes 
IV. Consent Agenda: 

A. Resolution No. 2025-16 Accounts Payable  
B. Resolution No. 2025-17 Indigent Claims 
C. Indigent Burial B2025-004 
D. Indigent Burial B2025-005 
E. Claim of Exemption 25-001 (Chavez) 

V. Presentations/reports: 
A. Years of Service Awards  
B. Department Reports   
C. ORC Presentation  
D. Flood Commissioner Annual Report  

VI. Board of Finance: 
A. January Reconciliation 
B. Approval of Suspense Fund Account for a Property Tax Refund Claim  

VII. Old Business: 
VIII. New Business: 

A. County Road Closure Request: Aerospace Test at and Around the Spaceport  
IX. Contracts-Agreements-Procurements: 

A. Agreement Between Holly Asphalt Company and The County of Sierra  



B. MOU Between Sierra County, The City of Truth or Consequences, and The City of 
Elephant Butte to Share Cost for High Resolution Geo Aerial Imagery 

C. MOU Between The County of Sierra DWI Program and The New Mexico Department of 
Finance and Administration  

D. Statement of Assurances Local DWI Grant and Distribution Program 
X. Resolutions-Ordinances-Proclamations: 

A. Resolution No. 2025-18 Appointing Members to The Board of Registration  
B. Resolution No. 2025-19 Budget Adjustment  
C. Resolution No. 2025-20 Authorizing the County to Submit an Application to The 

Department of Finance To participate in the Local DWI Grant and Distribution Program 
XI. Executive Session (Section 10-15 E thru H) : 

Pending and Threatened Litigation : 
A. Tracy v. BoCC 

XII. Open Session Actions from Executive Session: 
XIII. Adjourn 
 
 
 
Next proposed Scheduled Meeting: Regular Meeting, Tuesday, March 18th, 2025, at 10:00 AM. Items 
for the agenda must be submitted to the Sierra County Administration Office no later than 5:00pm 
on the Monday the week before the meeting. 
 
If you are an individual with a disability who is in need of a reader, amplifier, qualified sign language 
interpreter, or any other form of auxiliary aid or service to attend or participate in the hearing or 
meeting, please contact the Sierra County Manager, at 1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, 
New Mexico 87901, phone (575) 894-6215 at least one (1) week prior to the meeting or as soon as 
possible.  Public documents, including the agenda and minutes, can be provided in various accessible 
formats. Please contact the Sierra County Manager if a summary or other type of accessible format 
is needed. 

 
 
 



 

      
SIERRA COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                          REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
January 28, 2025 
 
 

 
   

CALL TO ORDER:  9:45 Public Hearing Amendment to Animal Control Ordinance                        
10:00 am Regular Meeting  

 
The Sierra County Board of County Commissioners met in Regular Session 
at 10:00 A.M. on Tuesday, January 28, 2025 at the Sierra County 
Commission Chambers 1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, New 
Mexico. 
 

 ROLL CALL: 
 

 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
            Commissioner James Paxon, Vice-Chair 
 Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
  
 Clerk of Board: Amy Whitehead 
 
 County Attorney: David Pato 
           
 County Manager: Amber Vaughn 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 
NEW MEXICO STATE FLAG PLEDGE: 
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 
   
Josh Baker, Mickey Atwell, Joshua Chavez, Keith Whitney, Ernie Armijo, 
Monica Zepeda, Candace Chavez, Isaac Rivers, Patrick Flores 
             

I. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to move Item VIII D to Item 3 on 
the Agenda due to time constraints for attendees and to approve the agenda 
as amended.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
A. Regular Meeting-December 17, 2024 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
January 28, 2025 
Page 2   

 

 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the minutes as presented.  
Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes.  
 

III. PUBLIC COMMENT: LIMITED TO 3 MINUTES 
 
ITEM VIII D: Moved to first order of business due to presenters time constraints.  
Direction To Authorize work on a Revised MOU with the Fair Board Appointing a 
Member of Sierra County Staff and a Commissioner. 
 
Members Jared Bartoo, Serena Bartoo and Jennie Shepperd presented a request for 
upgrade and repair wash racks and drainage problem at the Fairgrounds.  Hank 
Hopkins mentioned the sun needs to be blocked from the bleachers.  Manager 
Vaughn stated that these issues have been brought to her attention and are on her 
radar to be taken care of in the near future. 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to appoint Jim Paxon, Amber Vaughn, and Ernie 
Armijo to the Sierra County Fair board to represent the County. 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.   Motion carried with 
Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes.  

 
IV. CONSENT AGENDA: 

 
A.  Resolution No. 2025-01- Account Payables 
 
B.  Resolution No. 2025-02- Indigent Claims 
 
C.  Indigent Burial B2025-001 
 
D. Indigent Burial B2025-002 
 
E. Indigent Burial B2025-003 
 
F. Claim of Exemption 24-013 (Eischens) 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the Consent Agenda as 
presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

V. PRESENTATIONS/REPORTS: 
 
A.  Years of Service awards 
B.  Department Reports 
C.  Flood Commissioner Annual Report- Not present 
D. 2025 Fire Season and Prescribed Fire planned for 2025-Not present 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
January 28, 2025 
Page 3   

 

 
New Detention Administrator Patrick Flores introduced himself and stated 
that he has 18 years experience in a correctional setting. He is reviewing and 
revising policy now and is very happy to be here. 
 

VI. BOARD OF FINANCE: 
 

A.  December Reconciliation 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the December Reconciliation as 
presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
 
VII. OLD BUSINESS: 
  

 
VIII. NEW BUSINESS: 

 
A.  Approval of 2026 SP Request for Funding 
 
B.  Approval of 2026 SB Request for Funding 

 
C.  Approval of 2026 CAP Request for Funding  

 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the Request for Funding 
SP, SB, and CAP as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the 
motion.  Motion carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
D.  Direction to Authorize work on a Revised MOU with the Fair Board 
Appointing a member of Sierra County Staff and a Commissioner. 
Item D moved to 1st order of business on the agenda. (See below Public 
Comment) 

 
E.  Appointments of Board and Committee Members.  Commission Vice-
Chair asked that it be confirmed that County Manager Vaughn is the voting 
Representative and Commissioner Paxon is the Alternate. 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the Appointment of Board and 
Committee Members as presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon 
SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 
voting yes. 
 
F.  County Road Closure Request:    Temporary closure of A021 Space Race 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
January 28, 2025 
Page 4   

 

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve County Road Closure 
Request as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  
Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

    
IX. CONTRACTS – AGREEMENTS – PROCUREMENT 

 
A.  MOU between the County of Sierra and the City of Truth or     

Consequences-Provision of Emergency Management Services  
   Cost is $10k annually for Emergency Management to help the City of T or C. 
   
   Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve MOU between County of Sierra 

and City of T or C as presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon 
SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 
voting yes. 

 
B. First Amendment to Local Government Road Fund Cooperative Agreement 

Contract No. D20231 
   Will be paid by the State and save the County $61k per year. 
 
   Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve First Amendment to 

Local Government Road Fund  as presented. Commissioner Hopkins 
SECONDED the motion. Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 
voting yes. 

 
C. First Amendment to Local Government Road Fund Cooperative Agreement 

Contract No. D20229 
 
   Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve First Amendment to Local 

Government Road Fund as presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon 
SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 
voting yes. 

 
D. MES-Fire Equipment-SPA-Las Palomas Fire Department  

 
   Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve MES-Fire Equipment-SPA-Las 

Palomas Fire Department as presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon 
SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 
voting yes. 

 
E. MCLL-Chevrolet Tahoe PPV-SPA-Sheriff’s Office 
 
   Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve MCLL-Chevrolet Tahoe 

PPV-SPA-Sheriff’s Office as presented. Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED 
the motion. Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
January 28, 2025 
Page 5   

 

 
F. RFP #2024-07-021 Hazard Mitigation Plan-Notice of Award 
 
   Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve RFP #2024-07-021 as presented.  

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
 
 

X. RESOLUTIONS – ORDINANCES – PROCLAMATIONS 
 

A.  Resolution No. 2025-03 Appointment of Chair and Vice-Chair of Sierra 
County.  Commissioner Hopkins moved to appoint Travis Day as Chair and 
Jim Paxon as Vice Chair.  
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-03 as 
presented.  Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
B.  Resolution No. 2025-04 Sierra County Manager Authority 
Attorney Pato asked to adjust the Authority for the County Manager to 
$60k. 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-04 
as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
C.  Resolution No. 2025-05 Open Meeting Act 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution 2025-05 as 
presented.  Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
D.  Resolution No. 2025-06 Parliamentary Procedures and Robert’s Rules of 

Order 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-06 
as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
E.  Resolution No. 2025-07 Public Participation at Sierra County 
Commission Meetings. 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution 2025-07 as 
presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
January 28, 2025 
Page 6   

 

 
F.  Resolution No. 2025-08 Signature Authority on County Checks. 
 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-08 
as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
G. Resolution No. 2025-09 Establishing Depositories 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution 2025-09 as 
presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes 
 
H. Resolution No. 2025-10 Public Notice Describing Procedures for Requests 
for Inspection of Public Records. 
 

   Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-10 
as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes 

 
   I.  Resolution No. 2025-11 Opposing Abuse of the Antiquities Act  

 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-11 as 
presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes 

 
   J. Resolution No. 2025-12 Authorizing Sale or Disposal of Tangible Personal 

Property by Sierra County.   Clerk’s Office trade of 2018 Ford F150 
 

Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-12 
as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes 
 
K. Resolution No. 2025-13 Establishing a License Tax under the Liquor 
Control Act 
 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-13 
as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes 
 
L. Resolution No. 2025-14 Budget Adjustment 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-14 as 
presented.  Commission Vice-Chair SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
January 28, 2025 
Page 7   

 

M. Resolution No. 2025-15 In support of the Appointment of Yvette Herrell 
as Assistant Secretary of the United States Department of Interior. 
 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-15 
as presented.  County Chair Day SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes 
 
N. Direction to Order Publication of Ordinance No. 25-001 Property Tax 
Rebate Benefiting Low-Income Taxpayers. 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to NOT PUBLISH- Direction to Order 
Publication of Ordinance No. 25-001 as presented.  Commission Vice-Chair 
Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 
1-2-3 voting yes 
 
O. Ordinance No. 25-002 Amending Animal Control Ordinance. 
 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Ordinance No. 25-002 as 
presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes 
 
 

  XI. EXECUTIVE SESSION SECTION (10-15-E THRU H): 
 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to go into Executive Session for 

Personnel, Real Estate, Pending and Threatened Litigation.  Commissioner 
Hopkins SECONDED the motion. Roll call vote was taken with all 
Commissioners present voting yes.   
 
            District 1 – Yes 
 District 2 – Yes 
 District 3 – Yes 

 
            PENDING AND THREATENED LITIGATION: 
 

A. Ramirez v. Sierra County 
B. Estate of Tracy v. Sierra County  

                                                                
           PERSONNEL: 
 
 
      
            REAL ESTATE:  
 
                       XII. OPEN SESSION ACTIONS FOR EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
January 28, 2025 
Page 8   

 

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to come back into Regular Session.  
Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Roll call vote was taken, 
with all Commissioners present voting yes. 

 
 

 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT REGULAR SIERRA COUNTY 
COMMISSION MEETING:  
 
The date and time of the next Regular Sierra County Commission Meeting 
has been scheduled for Tuesday, February 18, 2025 at 10:00 A.M. at the 
Sierra County Commission Chambers at 1712 N Date, Truth or 
Consequences, New Mexico. 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to adjourn the meeting. Commission Vice-
Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.    
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, Commission 
Chair Day adjourned the meeting.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dated this 28th day of January, 2025 
 
 

 
 
 
 SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 
 
 
 ________________________________________________________ 
 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
 
 ________________________________________________________ 

Commissioner James E Paxon, Vice-Chairman 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
January 28, 2025 
Page 9   

 

 
________________________________________________________ 
Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Amy Whitehead, County Clerk 
 

   
 



 
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-16 
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PAYMENT OF CLAIMS THROUGH THE PERIOD BEGINNING 
JANUARY 1ST, 2024 

AND 
ENDING JANUARY 31ST, 2024 

 
WHEREAS, THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO, 
MEETING IN REGULAR PUBLIC SESSION ON FEBRUARY 18TH, 2025 DESIRES TO PROVIDE FOR 
THE EQUITABLE AND REASONABLE PAYENT OF CLAIMS DUE AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, AND; 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, THAT CLAIMS, PURCHASE VOUCHERS AND WARRANTS 
DETAILED AND ATTACHED HERETO, PAYABLE FROM THE VARIOUS FUNDS, IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$1937685.71ARE PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED ON THIS 18TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2025. 
                                                                                        
   BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
   SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO  
  
 
   ____________________________ 
ATTEST:   TRAVIS DAY, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
   ____________________________ 
   HANK HOPKINS COMMISSIONER 
 
 
_____________________________ ____________________________ 
AMY WHITEHEAD, COUNTY CLERK JAMES PAXON, COMMISSIONER 
 
 

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Amy Whitehead 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

 
Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150 

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

 



   

  

  

  

 

   
   

 
 

 
   

 

 

   

  

   

 

  

 

 

   
  

   

  
 

   

 

  

   

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 





 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 

 



 

 



 





     
   

 

    
    

             

             
           
             

     

       

      
            
             

              

  

    

    
          

   



  
  
  

   

 

    
   

    
     
    

 

    

  

   
  

 

   
      

    
    

 



 



    
      

  

               

                 

              

      

    

         

    

   
   
     

                  

      
     

     

    

  



   
 

 
   

    

     
   
    
     

   

            

    
    

          
  

   
   

               

             
          
             

        

           
        

           



   
        

              
       

              

    

    

    

     
    
    

    

 
 
 

  
 
  

 

     



 
 



    
    
     
   

  
 

 
  

 
 

    
    

  

          

 
 

 

 
 
 

  

  
 

     
          

   
         

            
            

             
   

 

    









     
 

    

 
  

 
  

  

       
  

    
   

      

  

 

  

 

  
  

  
 

 

 

   

 
 

 
 

 
  

   

  

 



 



     

 

  

   
 

 

 
 

  

  
  

 
  

  
  

 
 

  
    

 

  

 

 

  
     

   
 

  

    

  

  
  

  
  

   

  



 
 



 
 

 



 





 

 
  

 
 

 

 

 

  
  

  

 
 

 
  

  

   
   

 

   
    

    
  

  
  



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 
 

  
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 





 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 





 
 







 

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 



  



  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



   

 

  
  

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

  



    

              

                
   

     

     

  
  

   

  
  

  

     
     
   



    
    

    

    
           
       

  

                
           
       

    

    







                    
    
     
    

   
   

    

   

       

     

    

    
    

    

           
   

           
      

   







    
    

   

   
   

                 
    
      
     

            

   

   
            

   
   

   
    

     

    
   

           

     

    

     
    



 



    

    
    

    

      

   
   
    

    
    

              
   

          

   

   
 

 
  

    
    

    







 
 



 
  







 

 



     

 

  
  

  
 

 

    

 
  

   

  

    
 

 

  
  

  
  
   

 

  

 

 
  
   

 

   



  
 

   
  

     
 

  

 

 

   

    
  

    
   

 

 
  

       

  
  

   
   

  
  

    

   

  
  

 
          

 

 

 

 

 

   



 

 



 

   
   

  

   

   
     

   

     

     

  

  
  

  

  
  

 

  

  
 

  
  

 

 

      

 
 

  
  

     
   



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



   

  
 

    

  
  

  

  
   

      
  



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



  

  
  

 

 

   
  

  



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 



  

 
 

  

  

 
 

 

 

 

  
   

  

  

 

  

  

 



 

    

   
     

 

     

     

 

  
  

   

  
   

  

  
  

   
  

 

  

   

  
  

 
 

  
  
  

 
   

   
  



 

 
     

  
  

 

   
   

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

    

 
 

  

   
   

 
 

    
  

    
       

  
 

 
 

 

 

  
  

    

  
   

  



  

  

             
   

 
    

 
   

  

    

 

 

 
 

     

    

  

   
  

   

  

  
     

  
 

  

   
 

  
      

   

 
 

  

   



 
 

 
 

 

 



  

     
 

  

  
  

 
  

  
 

 

  
 

 
 

       
   

  
 

 

  

     

   
  

   
 

 

 

   
  
  

   

  
  

 

 

      

  



 



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 

 

 

 

  

 

  
  

  
  
  

    
   

 
  

  
  

   

 
              

  

 
   

  
  

   

 

   
  

 

    
 

   
  

 
    

   
 

  





             

   

  
   
  

 

    
 

    
  

   

       
    

     
     

 

    

      
       

       
             

     



   
  

 

    

               

      
       

    

             

     

       

      

    

    
   

   



          
   

     
    

     
    
   

       
            
   

     

     
     

     
    

   
    

    

       

              

     



    

    
    

        
      

             
             

     

    
     

     
  

     

          

    

     

          
        

     

    
     
    



   

              

              

    
     

     

   

      
      

        

   

  
   
   

    





   

    
     

            

    
     
    

      

     
    
   
   

   
      

    
    

           

    
              

    

   
     
    

   

          
   

   



  
     

 

 
 
 
 

  
  

 
 

 

    
              

              

            
    

     

  

    
    

    
     

           
   

             

           
    

    

          



     
             

    
    

     

    

   

             
   

      
            

     
   

     

      

   

   
           

      

 

     





 
 

 
 

 
 

 





 
 

 
 



 
 

 

 



  
     

 
  

   
 

 
 

  

 

   

    
 

 

  

  
   

    
   

 
  

  
  

   
 

   
   

  

      
      

   



   

 

     

  

  
   

  
  

 
   

  

 

   

    
 

  

  

   

      

  



   

   

      

   

  

  

   

 
           

  
 

   
   

 

   

   

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

    

 

 

  

    



 



    
 

  
 

  
 

 

  

  
    

  

  
    

  

 
  

  

 
   

   
    

    
  

 

  

  
  

   
      

   

   
   

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

 



   

 
 



 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 





     

 
 

 

 
  

   
   

  

 

            
                

             
    

            
         

   
  

  

  

 
  

   

 
 

    

 
     

    
        

        

                



 

    

  

  

  

   

    

    

    

    



 

 

  
  

    
   

 

   
 

 

   

    

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

     
   
  

    



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

  
   



   

  

  

 
   

     

      
     

 
   

    

 

    

  

                
                 

   

                
   

 

 
 

 

  

  

 
 

  

 

 
  

 



  
 

  
  

 

    
  

  

   

 

  

      

    
     

                    
                     

            

      

       

   
      

              

              

    
     

     

          

       

     

      

  

      

 

    

 

 

            

     

 

    

  

 

  

 

 



  
        

    
    

 

  

    

  

        

  
   

          
        

         
           

             
       

           
  

          

        
    

          
        

           
         

           
         

          
   

        
          

        

              
     

      
          

          
           

       
         
       

      
         

          

      
      
        
         

         
      

        
     

   
      

     
      

        
        
          

          
      

         
         

         
          

       
          

      

          
       

         
        

     

          

    

      

           

      

  



 

    
  

      
    

       
    

  

           
              

             
             

             
            

              
             

             
            

   

     

   
  
    

 

 

       





   
   

   

  

   

 

  

  

     

   

        

              

                   

   

           

                  

               

              

   

 

 
        

  

  

   

   

    

    



   
      

     

   

     

 

  

 
 

 

 
  

   

   
  

 
  

  

 

 
 
 

 

  
 

 

  

  
   
  

   

    

 
  

  
   

     

    

  

 
  

  

   

  

   

 
 

  
   
    
   
  

 



 

 

 

   

  
  

     

  
    

  

     

  
    

  
  

     



    

 
 

  

 

  

   
     

    
     

  
 

 
  
    

 

    

  
              
                 

     

               
   

 

 
 

  

   

 



  
        

    
    

 

  

      

  

 

           

 
   

      
         

          

      
      
        
         

         
      

        
     

   
       

      
      

        
        
          

          
      

         
         

         
          

       
          

      

          
        

         
          
             

       

           
  

          

        
    

          
        

           
         

           
        

           
   

        
          

       

              
     

      
          

          
            

        
         
       

          

    

      

           

        

          
        

          
        

     



     
      

 

    
  

     
    

     
    

  

           
              

          
             

              
          
            

              

             

             
            

  

   
  
    

 

 

        





   
   

    

 

  

 

 

   

   

   

      

     

              

                   

   

           

                   
               

               

 

   

   
         

   

  

 

  

    

        



         

  

     

 

  

 

 

   

  

   

   

 
   

  

 
  

  

 

 
 
 

 

  
 

 

  
   

   
  

   

    

 
  

  
  

     

       

  

 
  

  
    

  
   

  

  
 

   

    
   

  

 



 

 

 
  
  

  
    

  
    

  

  

     

  
    

  
  

      



  
            

   

     

   

 

 

 
  

   
   

 
   

  
 

  

  

 

 
 

 

 

  
 

 

  
   

   
  

   

    

 
 
  

   

   

   
      

  

 
 

  
  

  

   
  

  
 

   

    
     

  

 



 

    

  

 

  
  

  
      

    

        

  
  

     

  
   

  
  

  

       

  
  

    

 
  

 

      



    

         

     

  

     

   

 
 

 

   

    

 
   

  

 
  

  

 

 
 

 

 

  
 

 

  

  

   
  

   

    

 
  
  

   

   
      

  
 

 

  
   

  
   

  

  
 

   
    
   
  

 



 

 
 

  
  

  
     

  
    

  
  

   

  
    

  
  

     



    

      

 

     

   

 
 

 
 

  

   

      

   
  

 
  

  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

   
   
  

  
   

 
 
 

  

    
   
   
 

 

  

  
       

  

   

  

 
  

   

   
      

  

 



 

    

 

 

  
  

 
    

  
    

  
  

      
  
    

  

  

     

  
  
  

     

       

  

  
  

 
   

  
  































 

 

 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN 

2024 – 2025 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           1 

 
OPIOID REMEDIATION COLLABORATIVE STRATEGIC PLAN 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

GLOSSARY 2 
MAP OF THE STATE OF NEW MEXICO 4 
OPIOID RELATED DEATHS IN ORC COUNTIES 2017-2021 5 
MESSAGE FROM ORC EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 6 
OPIOID SETTLEMENT FUNDS 8 
OPIOID REMEDIATION COLLABORATIVE (ORC) 9 
DEMOGRAPHICS 11 

COUNTY POPULATION BY GENDER 11 
COUNTY POPULATION BY MEDIAN AGE AND GENDER 12 
COUNTY POPULATION BY RACE 13 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT: 15 
STAKEHOLDER FOCUS GROUPS 15 
INDIVIDUAL STAKEHOLDER INTERVIEWS: 16 
COMMUNITY LISTENING GROUPS 17 
RESOURCE LEADERS 18 
GUIDING PRINCIPLES: 19 

OPPORTUNITIES FOR ENGAGEMENT 20 
NM MEDICAID BEHAVIORAL HEALTH AND SUD PROVIDERS 20 

COUNTY SPECIALTY SERVICES BILLING 21 
CHILDHOOD EDUCATION 22 
VOLUNTEER FIRE DEPTS AND EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES 23 
HOSPITALS, FQHCS, COUNTY JAILS AND STATE PRISONS 24 

STRATEGIC PLAN 27 
ORC PREVENTION STRATEGIES 27 
ORC TREATMENT STRATEGIES 30 

REFERENCES 34 
APPENDIX A: BHSD RUN REPORT 37 
APPENDIX B: SCHOOL ASSESSMENT 38 
APPENDIX C: ORC COUNTY FIRE & EMS 40 
 

  



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           2 

GLOSSARY 
Addiction Medicine: Addiction Medicine (ADM) is now a recognized physician subspecialty of the 
American Board of Medical Specialties (ABMS). Credentialed ADM subspecialists serve as clinical experts, 
faculty, teachers, researchers and change agents. They provide prevention, evaluation, diagnosis, and 
treatment services for patients with unhealthy substance use or substance-related health conditions. 
ADM physicians also help family members who are affected by a loved one’s substance use or addiction. 
(NIDA: NATIONAL INSTITUTE ON DRUG ABUSE) 

BHC: The New Mexico Behavioral Health Collaborative 

BHSD:  State of New Mexico Behavioral Health Services Division 

CDC:  US Centers for Disease Control 

Evidence Based Treatment: Evidence based refers to treatments that have been scientifically tested and 
subjected to clinical judgment and determined to be appropriate for the treatment of a given individual, 
population, or problem area. (Evidence Based Treatment, Retrieved November 12, 2024, 
https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/psychology/evidence-based-treatment 

Federally Qualified Health Center (FQHC):  Federally funded nonprofit health centers or clinics that serve 
medically underserved areas and populations. 

Geofencing:  Geofencing is a type of location-based marketing and advertising. A mobile app or software 
uses the Global Positioning System (GPS), radio frequency identification (RFID), Wi-Fi or cellular data to 
define a virtual geographical boundary and trigger a targeted marketing action when a device enters or 
exits that boundary. This boundary is known as a geofence.  Retrieved November 11, 2024, 
https://www.techtarget.com/whatis/definition/geofencing) 

Harm Reduction: a set of practical strategies and ideas aimed at reducing negative consequences 
associated with drug use. (Harm Reduction Coalition) 

Health Disparity: preventable differences in the burden of disease, injury, violence, or opportunities to 
achieve optimal health that are experienced by socially disadvantaged populations. 

Health Equity: the state in which everyone has a fair and just opportunity to attain their highest level of 
health. (CDC) 

HPSA (Health Professional Shortage Area): designations to identify areas, population groups, or facilities 
within the United States that are experiencing a shortage of health care professionals. (US Dept. of Health 
& Human Services) 

MOUD: Medication for Opioid Use Disorder 

Navigation Model: An organizational arrangement to help people find services, programs, and benefits. A 
Navigation Model can match people to providers and help with enrollment. 

NM LFC: New Mexico Legislative Finance Committee 

NMAC: New Mexico Administrative Code 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           3 

Opioid Epidemic:  A nationwide public health crisis initially driven by increased consumption and 
availability of pharmaceutical opioids. An increasing number of opioid overdoses are now related to 
heroin and illicitly manufactured fentanyl and fentanyl analogs.5 

Opioid Settlement Funds:  Funds allocated as a result of legal settlements with pharmaceutical 
companies and other entities involved in the opioid epidemic. 

ORC (Opioid Remediation Collaborative): A group of professionals which will leverage the opioid funding 
allocation for seven NM Counties (Cibola, Catron, Guadalupe, Hidalgo, Sierra, Socorro, Valencia) to 
address the harms caused by the opioid epidemic and support evidence-based treatment approaches and 
prevention strategies within the identified region.    

OUD (Opioid Use Disorder): Repeated opioid use within 12 months leading to problems or distress with 2 
or more of the following occurring: Continued opioid use despite worsening physical or psychological 
health. Continued opioid use despite social and interpersonal consequences.6 

Overdose: Ingesting or taking more than the recommended amount of something, often a medicine or 
drug. An overdose may result in serious, harmful symptoms or death. 

Overdose Rate: An overdose rate is a measure of the number of drug overdose deaths per 100,000 
people in a given population. 

Safety First:  13 lessons on alcohol, opioids/fentanyl, psychedelics, and other drugs designed to 
encourage youth to abstain from use.  (Safety- First. Retrieved November 12, 2024, 
https://med.stanford.edu/halpern-felsher-reach-lab/preventions-interventions/Safety-First.html) 

Stakeholder: A person or group that has an investment, share, or interest in something.7  

Stigma: A set of negative and unfair beliefs that a society or group of people have about something.7 

Strategic Plan: The result of the strategic planning process, which involves analyzing the current state of a 
problem or organization, identifying trends and issues, and developing a plan to address them. 

SUD (Substance Use Disorder): Patterns of symptoms caused by using a substance that an individual 
continues taking despite its negative effects.6 

Substance Use Prevention:  Activities designed to educate and support individuals and communities to 
prevent the use and misuse of drugs and the development of substance use disorders. (SAMHSA) 

Substance Use Treatment: Treatment designed to help people stop alcohol or drug use and remain sober 
and drug free. (SAMHSA) 

  



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           4 

Map of the State of New Mexico 

 
 

Seven New Mexico Counties working together as the Opioid Remediation Collaborative in order to better 
leverage the Opioid Settlement in New Mexico. 

  

 NEW MEXICO 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           5 

Opioid Related Deaths in ORC Counties 2017-2021

 

  



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           6 

Message from ORC Executive Director, Shauna Hartley LCSW 

 
Dear Opioid Remediation Collaborative (ORC) Board and Citizens of New Mexico, 
 
Improving treatment and prevention services for opioid use disorder in New Mexico is vital, given the high 
overdose rates our state faces.   By enhancing these services, we can save lives, reduce the burden on our 
healthcare system, and foster healthier communities. Addressing this crisis with effective, evidence-based 
strategies are essential to reversing the devastating impact of opioid addiction in our state. 
 
The opioid epidemic has disproportionately impacted rural areas, where access to healthcare services, 
Including, mental health and substance abuse disorder treatment is often limited. Rural community 
members face unique barriers such as transportation difficulties, stigma surrounding addiction 
treatment and shortage of healthcare providers trained in addiction medicine.  In 2021, data from NM 
DOH Bureau of Vital Records and Health Statistics revealed that Rio Arriba, Socorro, Sierra, and San 
Miguel Counties experienced the highest overdose deaths in the state, with each county exceeding 80 
deaths per 100,000 residents.  Additionally, the pandemic saw a rapid increase in overdose death rates in 
Cibola, Socorro, Sierra and Valencia Counties, largely driven by fentanyl.  Consequently, four counties 
within our seven-county collaborative faced the most severe impact from opioid overdose deaths in New 
Mexico.  This shared experience, combined with the realization by these rural counties that they could 
more effectively improve opioid prevention and treatment collaboratively rather than individually, led to 
our agreement.   
 
Our seven-county collaboration shares common rural challenges, yet each county differs in its 
geographical location, population size, and labor force resources.  However, their unwavering 
commitment to improving the lives of New Mexico residents and their families affected by opioid 
addiction unites them.  Our ORC strategic plan for FY 24-FY 25 will tackle these differences directly, 
establishing a foundation for sustainable prevention and treatment strategies that will endure for years to 
come. 
 
In developing my strategic plan, I employed both qualitative and quantitative analysis to ensure a 
comprehensive approach.  This balanced methodology allowed for a thorough understanding of the 
issues and helped in crafting well-rounded, effective strategies.  By incorporating qualitative methods, 
such as stakeholder meetings, community listening sessions and community member interviews, I was 
able to gather in-depth insights and understand the refined perspectives of stakeholders and community 
members. Meanwhile, quantitative analysis provided me with hard data and measurable trends, allowing 
for objective evaluation and evidence-based decision making. By combining personal insights with both 
national and state statistical analysis, I was able to develop a strategic plan that is deeply informed and 
data driven, resulting in more effective and sustainable solutions. 
 
In the first year of our strategic plan, we will focus on identifying the existing resources available in each 
county for opioid disorder treatment.  Additionally, we have established a panel of experts in addiction 
medicine to support providers in effectively treating individuals suffering from opioid addiction through 
comprehensive training and education. This panel will also provide community leaders, local 
organizations, schools, and detention centers with information on recognizing signs of addiction and how 
to respond effectively. Secondly, our strategic plan aims to tackle the barriers to opioid addiction 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           7 

treatment, such as stigma, lack of transportation, difficulties with accessing recovery housing and 
environments, and ensuring timely linkage to necessary services. Lastly, our strategic plan aims to 
immediately invest in our youth, as recommended by the guiding principles for spending opioid 
settlement dollars. We will implement prevention strategies to raise awareness about the dangers of 
opioid use and provide viable options for youth who need help or are seeking assistance for a friend. 
 
Our strategic plan will also be guided by recommendations outlined by USC Schaeffer Opioid Policy Tools 
and Information Center (OPTIC), to include in our rural county improvements: (1) Addressing root causes 
like economic instability, housing insecurity, pain, despair, and untreated mental health issues; (2) 
Practitioners and appropriators collaborating to assess program efficacy and create success metrics; (3) 
Removing barriers to services by expanding insurance for buprenorphine treatment, reducing costs, 
eliminating prior authorizations, and incentivizing providers; and (4) Implementing policies that address 
use and treatment of all addictive substances, not just opioids.   
 
During the assessment and implementation phases of this project, my team and I aim to foster 
partnerships with local law enforcement agencies, healthcare providers, government agencies, faith- 
based programs, and various community entities to create a comprehensive support network for those 
affected by opioid addiction. Additionally, we will engage with state and federal resources to secure 
funding for ongoing initiatives aimed at combating this opioid crisis. 
 

Our ultimate goal is to enhance both existing and new prevention and treatment resources in our rural 
New Mexico counties, leveraging our recurring opioid settlement dollars.     Over time, we aim to create a 
shared, sustainable system of care that includes all levels of opioid disorder treatment, such as medical 
withdrawal and residential services. This will ensure that counties can access care in a way that best 
suits their needs. 
 
The strategic plan strategies were presented to the Opioid Remediation Collaborative (ORC) board in 
February 2024 was approved. Full implementation of this project began in July 2024. Consequently, the 
strategic plan will be reviewed and revised annually, on or before the end of each fiscal year (July 1-June 
30). 
 
This strategic plan represents our commitment not only to combatting opioid addiction but also 
fostering resilience within our rural communities. Together, we can create an environment where 
individuals feel supported in their recovery journey. 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to develop improved resources for people in New Mexico, especially in 
rural areas where they are greatly needed. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Shauna Hartley, LCSW 
Executive Director, Opioid Remediation Collaborative 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           8 

Opioid Settlement Funds 

The Opioid Remediation Collaborative (the ORC) was created from opioid settlement dollars, which are 
the funds allocated as a result of legal settlements with pharmaceutical companies and other entities 
involved in the opioid crisis.  

Funding agreements for Opioid settlement programs are typically reached between states, local 
governments, and the companies responsible for manufacturing, distributing, or selling prescription 
opioid painkillers.  Nationwide, approximately $50 billion will be distributed to states and local 
governments over nearly two decades.  Every U.S state, Washington DC, and US territories receive some 
amount of settlement money.  Federally recognized tribes also receive funds through separate Tribal 
Opioid Settlements.  Counties within the ORC have Tribal and Pueblo representation as follows:  

 
ORC COUNTY 

AMERICAN 
INDIAN 
POPULATION % 

 
PUEBLOS AND TRIBES REPRESENTED 

Cibola County 42% Pueblos of Acoma, Laguna, Zuni; 
Ramah Chapter of the Navajo Tribe 

Socorro County 12% Alamo Navajo Indian Reservation 
Guadalupe County 8% No tribal representation 
Valencia County 4% Pueblo of Laguna. Resources in Cibola County 
Sierra County 3% No tribal representation 
Catron County 2% Pueblo of Zuni land holdings. Resources in Cibola County 
Hidalgo County 1% No tribal representation 

 
Our seven-county collaborative plans to partner with these entities to directly engage with our unique 
communities, ensuring inclusivity and meeting the needs of all residents in our counties.  This 
collaboration is especially vital in Cibola County, where the substantial Native American population and 
significant Tribal and Pueblo representation require focused efforts.     

States are required to spend at least 70% of their share to the national settlements on improving 
evidence-based treatment and prevention strategies in their communities.  The goal is to remediate the 
harms caused by the opioid crisis and support individuals directly impacted by addiction.  

The New Mexico Opioid Allocation Agreement allocates over $195 million settlement dollars to the state 
and counties, with 45% of those dollars allocated to the state, and 55% of those dollars shared among the 
counties and municipalities.  According to the Legislative Finance Committee, New Mexico received $884 
million from the opioid settlements, with $310.9 million going to the state, $324.5 to local governments, 
and $249.4 million (28.2%) to outside counsel fees.  Funds from the settlements are being distributed 
over time, with annual payments to the opioid crisis recovery fund.  The legislature appropriated $21 
million in FY24 and $17.1 million in FY25 for various Substance Use Disorder treatment and prevention 
programs.  The Legislative Finance Committee has advised “coordinated efforts” among state and local 

entities, including the Behavioral Health Collaborative (BHC), and other stakeholders, to improve 
collaboration, prevent duplication of efforts, and ensure funds reach the communities most in need.   



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           9 

Opioid Remediation Collaborative (ORC) 

The ORC was created to provide leverage for this group of NM Counties to address the harms caused by 
the opioid epidemic and support evidence-based treatment approaches and prevention strategies within 
the identified region.    

 

 

A Board of Directors oversees the implementation of this project with each participating County entity 
appointing a representative to the board, as indicated above.  The County of Valencia serves as the fiscal 
agent for the ORC, managing the fiscal responsibilities of the opioid settlement funds.  Our ORC board 
meets consistently every quarter and the public is welcome to attend and provide input. 
 
The Seven Counties represented by the ORC have been allocated approximately $6.3M, as follows:   
 

ORC COUNTY BOARD MEMBER FUNDING ALLOCATION 

Valencia County Danny Monette $3,412,670.31 
Sierra County Amber Vaughn $1,249,983.10 
Cibola County Commissioner Christine Lowery $936,490.82 
Hidalgo County Tisha Green $238,332.87 
Guadalupe County Diana Urban $226,653.24 
Socorro County Andy Lotrich $181,324.47 
Catron County Loren Cushman $140,283.79 
TOTAL  $6,385,738.60 

 
  



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           10 

 

 

 

  

DEMOGRAPHICS 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           11 

DEMOGRAPHICS:  

The communities represented by the ORC are very diverse when considering the effects of the Opioid 
Epidemic, population markers and the availability of resources.   

The following demographic data highlights several diversities that will influence the ORC’s efforts in this 

region. 

County Population by Gender 
One of the most significant differences between the seven counties is their varying population 
sizes. Three counties have fewer than 5,000 residents, three counties have populations ranging 
from 11,500 to 27,500, and our largest county has nearly 80,000 residents.  This type of 
population variance leans towards a Hub and Spoke model where the central location or “hub” is 
located in the county with the largest population and resources and the smaller counties are the 
“spokes”, which resemble outlying nodes connected to the hub.   This striking difference in 
population density further supports the pooling of resources through the creation of the ORC to 
provide the most efficient response to the Opioid epidemic in these Counties.   
 
The data shows that the gender makeup of each County is consistently near a 50/50 ratio which 
will translate to a balanced approach to services based on gender.   Please note that the World 
Population Review data does not provide separate statistics for transgender and gender non-
conforming populations. Ensuring the inclusivity of all gender identities within the seven counties 
is vital. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  







 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           14 

 

 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           15 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT:   
Stakeholder focus groups, community listening sessions and community member interviews were 
conducted in order to incorporate the voices of the communities served by the ORC. Our guiding 
principles were developed through the use of national guiding principles and principles highlighted by our 
constituent counties. 
 
The following data continues to highlight the diverse needs of the seven counties represented by the 
ORC. 
 

Stakeholder Focus Groups  
Holding Stakeholder focus groups in each County allowed the ORC to identify the best approach while 
recognizing individual County needs in order to create a strategic plan of action based on best practices. 
Stakeholders represented a demographic cross-section of the population, and included professionals 
working directly with individuals facing substance use challenges, system leaders, educational staff, 
judicial authorities, and policy influencers in the realm of opioid addiction. The outcomes of the 
Stakeholder groups are summarized below: 
 
• Youth were identified as our #1 prevention priority.    

• Strong support for youth media campaigns to prevent opioid misuse and the implementation of a 
prevention and education curriculum in the schools settings.  

• Request for more training for NARCAN for first responders and school personnel (in-person 
training was preferred) and updated resource guides that promote addiction resources in their 
local communities.   

• Adults were identified as our #1 treatment priority.   

• Request for increased local addiction services, ranging from inpatient to outpatient.   

• Request for housing resources for individuals transitioning out of treatment and/or incarceration.   

• Strong support for navigation resources to link people to treatment and/or substance use 
resources.   

• Request for improved access to non-medical transportation when individuals are seeking 
substance use resources.   

• Stakeholders identified the Health Councils as an existing stakeholder group that provides 
leadership and planning to take the opioid problem 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           16 

Individual Stakeholder Interviews:  
Conducting over 50 Stakeholder interviews with individuals who either live or work in these counties 
allowed the ORC to gain better understanding of the distinct challenges faced by different communities.   
This process has been invaluable in tailoring our prevention and treatment strategies to meet the unique 
needs of the community.  The Stakeholders interviews were also able to highlight specific local issues that 
were not apparent without their input.   The Stakeholder interviews revealed the following insights 
below.  

• There is a great deal of shame around addiction and we need to work to decrease stigma in our 
communities so people feel comfortable accessing prevention and treatment resources for 
addiction. 

• We need more NA/AA groups for people in the rural communities 
• It’s challenging to access addiction medicine and counseling services while incarcerated in the 

detention centers and jails 
• We need to pursue mobile addiction medicine options  

• Families who have lost loved ones to opioid addiction need resources 

• Law enforcement staff are experiencing high levels of burn-out related to arresting those that 
suffer from addiction issues 

• Rural hospitals are not full and could dedicate more resources to assisting with opioid addiction 

• We need to increase the use of Peer Support and Community Health Workers to tackle this 
problem 

• Counties need to take a less conservative approach and embrace prevention strategies for opioid 
addiction  

• The RISE program has made a positive impact in the detention centers and jails 

• Health Councils and 100% Community program are strong resources and partners in our rural 
communities 

  



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           17 

Community Listening Groups 
County residents were invited to attend Community Listening Groups in each of the seven counties. This 
provided the ORC with a deeper understanding of the community perspective in relation to the use of 
Opioid funds. Overall, the voice of County Professionals listed above matched the concerns and wishes of 
individual community members. Community members provided creative and focused suggestions for 
ways that we might meet the desired outcomes within their County. Here’s what we heard:  

 

 

  



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026                                                                           18 

Resource Leaders 
The ORC has identified a community leader from each county to serve in a “Resource Leader” role for the 

ORC project.  Community leaders often possess a deep understanding of local needs and challenges.  They 
have their finger on the pulse of the community, which allows them to identify pressing issues and gaps 
that require attention.  Their insights help ensure that projects are relevant, effective, and tailored to 
meet the specific needs of the people they serve.   

Secondly, community leaders can mobilize resources and build partnerships.  Their influence and 
networks enable them to connect with other stakeholders and systems.  By having strong relationships 
and collaborating with these systems, community leaders can amplify the impact of any project.   

Lastly, community leaders inspire and motivate others.  Their passion, commitment, and visible 
involvement encourage community members to participate, volunteer, and contribute.  When community 
leaders actively engage in projects, they set an example and foster a sense of collective responsibility, 
creating a ripple effect throughout the community.   

Our Resource Leaders will serve as a local partner to ensure that initiatives are well informed, sustainable, 
and beneficial to everyone involved.   Each county has a community leader that will play a vital role in 
driving the success of the ORC projects by providing local insights, mobilizing resources, and inspiring 
active participation. The ORC intentionally selected Resource Leaders with diverse experiences and/or 
backgrounds who also exhibit the following characteristics:  

(1) Informed Decision Making: Leaders from various backgrounds bring unique perspectives.  Their 
diverse experiences and backgrounds help identify blind spots and consider multiple viewpoints 
during decision-making.  This leads to well-rounded, informed choices that benefit the entire 
community.   

(2) Inclusive Solutions: Diverse leaders understand the needs of different demographics.  They 
advocate for inclusive solutions that address various challenges faced by community members.  
Whether it’s healthcare, education, or infrastructure, their insights ensure that no one is left 
behind. 

(3) Effective Communication: Leaders with varied experiences can bridge gaps in communication.  
They connect with different groups, translating complex ideas into relatable terms.  Effective 
communication fosters collaboration, engagement, and successful project implementation.   

(4) Resilience and Adaptability: Diverse leaders have faced adversity and overcome obstacles.  Their 
resilience and adaptability inspire others.  When challenges arise, their collective wisdom helps 
navigate uncertainties and find innovative solutions.   

 

Our ORC Resource Leaders participate in quarterly “Resource Leader” meetings to discuss ORC activities 

and updates on community resources related to our project, serve as a liaison to community providers 
and resources, assist with promotion of ORC events, and provide up-to-date information regarding gaps in 
prevention and treatment.   





 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  19 
 

 
 

 
 
  

OPPORTUNITIES FOR 

ENGAGEMENT 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026   
 

OPPORTUNITIES FOR ENGAGEMENT:  
NM MEDICAID BEHAVIORAL HEALTH AND SUD PROVIDERS 

 
According to the KFF Mental Health and Substance Use fact sheet for New Mexico, our state surpasses 
national data for adults reporting symptoms of Anxiety and/or Depressive Disorder, drug overdose 
deaths, suicide and shortages of mental health providers.  The KFF defines "mental health professionals" 
as psychiatrists, psychologists, psychiatric nurses, addiction counselors, and mental health or family and 
marriage counselors. Due to provider shortages, many individuals in need of mental health or substance 
use treatment, especially in rural areas, face delays in accessing care. Health Professional Shortage Area 
(HPSA) designations identify areas with shortages based on the number of psychiatrists relative to the 
population.  According to the Bureau of Health Workforce's Designated Health Professional Shortage 
Areas Statistics as of September 30, 2022, only 18.2% of the need for mental health professionals in New 
Mexico is met, compared to the national average of 27.7%. Therefore, the ORC acknowledges the 
necessity of investing in established providers within our communities to build a robust system of care for 
rural counties.   
 
To assess the volume of opportunities with established providers, a landscape analysis was conducted to 
identify existing providers.  The data provided for this analysis was based on a “run report” in January 
2024 conducted by the Behavioral Health Services Division (BHSD), where they queried active providers 
who were providing substance use and behavioral health services in our seven counties.  BHSD was also 
able to drill down on this data and identify the types of specialty billing that was currently taking place in 
each county.  The chart on the following page, County Specialty Services Billing, further breaks down the 
types of services available within each county. See Appendix A, BHSD run report for the raw data. 
 
The specialty billing categories were categorized into 
these eight categories:  (1) Early Intervention (2) 
Therapy (3) Drug and Alcohol Counseling (4) 
Comprehensive Community Support Services (CCSS) (5) 
Medication Management (6) Intensive Outpatient 
Services (IOP),(7) Medical and (8) Behavioral Health.   
 
The data was unsurprising, revealing that counties with 
larger populations have more identified providers and 
higher instances of specialized billing.  The “run-
report” identified 256 practitioners across all seven 
counties with the potential to expand specialty billing.  
This expansion could strengthen the outpatient service 
network for those seeking mental health and/or 
substance use treatment.  
  



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  21 
 

OPPORTUNITIES FOR ENGAGEMENT:  
NM MEDICAID BEHAVIORAL HEALTH AND SUD PROVIDERS 
 

COUNTY SPECIALTY SERVICES BILLING 

 

 

 
*NOTE: The above specialties are based on Medicaid provider enrollment.  These specialized services are 
covered and defined in the NMAC and the Medicaid Billing and Policy Manual. 
**Run date: 01/23/24; Source System: Medicaid Data Warehouse, Paid Claims/Encounters, and Provider 
Base Nick Boukas, BHSD Director 
See Appendix A, BHSD Run Report 
 

  



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  22 
 

OPPORTUNITIES FOR ENGAGEMENT:  
CHILDHOOD EDUCATION  
 

  

Prevention is a guiding principle for allocating opioid 
settlement dollars.  Additionally, the Stakeholder groups 
in our seven-county collaboration have prioritized this 
pressing need.   Conducting prevention efforts in the 
schools is crucial because it targets youth at a pivotal 
stage in their development, providing them with the 
knowledge and skills to make informed decisions about 
substance use.   
 
Our seven counties are home to various elementary 
schools, middle schools, high schools, and some charter 
schools, almost 70 schools in total potentially impacting 
over 19,000 lives.  This provides numerous opportunities 
to conduct youth prevention efforts within the 
educational system, allowing us to reach and positively 
impact youth individuals and their families across school 
levels. See Appendix B for a complete list of schools by 
County. 
 
The Stanford REACH Lab, officially known as the Halper-
Felsher REACH Lab, is part of Stanford Medicine Pediatrics Department.  The lab focuses on 
understanding and promoting adolescent and young adult health through research, education and policy.  
The Stanford REACH Lab emphasizes investing in high school students because this age is at a critical 
developmental stage where they are making important health-related decisions.   
 
The Safety First curriculum, created by Stanford Reach Lab, is a comprehensive, harm reduction based 
drug education program.  This curriculum is designed for high school students and aims to provide them 
with scientifically accurate information about various drugs including opioids, reviews harm reduction 
strategies and the effects of different substances.  Our educational data review reveals that the ORC has 
15 high schools in all seven counties where we have an opportunity to shape healthier habits and 
attitudes that can carry into adulthood.   

 

 

  



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  23 
 

OPPORTUNITIES FOR ENGAGEMENT:  
VOLUNTEER FIRE DEPTS AND EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES 
 

  

No matter which state you live in, the opioid epidemic affects fire departments and emergency 
management services. The rise in medical emergencies related to opioid ingestion has led to an increase 
in emergency service calls, further straining 
already limited resources.  Unlike urban areas, 
our seven rural counties rely heavily on 65 
volunteers, making them the primary source of 
emergency response.   See Appendix C for a 
complete list of Volunteer Fire Departments 
and Emergency Medical Services by County. 
 
The ORC sees engaging emergency response 
systems as a valuable opportunity to provide 
training, education, and support, recognizing 
that they are often on the “front lines” of the 
opioid epidemic.  In rural states across the 
county, a significant resources across are being 
invested in training our first responders to 
equip them with the necessary tools to 
intervene effectively with individuals 
experiencing mental health and/or addiction 
issues.  This training ensures that first 
responders can accurately assess the needs of 
these individuals and guide them to the 
appropriate resources for help.  By doing so, 
we enhance the support system for those in 
crisis and improve overall community well-
being.   

 

 

 

  



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  24 
 

OPPORTUNITIES FOR ENGAGEMENT:  
HOSPITALS, FQHCs, COUNTY JAILS AND STATE PRISONS 

 
Our seven counties host several systems where community members can either seek medical services or 
are mandated to undergo rehabilitation due to substance abuse issues.  This infrastructure is critical for 
providing necessary care and support to individuals struggling with addiction, ensuring they receive the 
appropriate treatment and resources to aid in their recovery.  Four out of seven counties have rural 
hospitals, one county is currently building a 
rural hospital, and each county has more than 
one Federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHC), 
21 FQHC across all counties.  As indicated in the 
chart, our seven counties also have 3 jails and 6 
state prisons, in which the ORC sees all of these 
systems as an opportunity to improve OUD 
treatment in our communities 
 
The ORC has employed a unique group of 
addiction medicine specialists ranging from 
board certified Addiction Medicine physicians, 
clinicians with extensive experience working 
with individuals with mental health and 
substance use issues, and a Registered Nurse 
that specializes in both inpatient and outpatient 
medical withdrawal.  Members of our team 
have been leaders in New Mexico for decades 
treating individuals with addiction and mental 
health issues, but also specialize in training, 
education, curriculum and grant writing, and 
assisting organizations in creating sustainable 
systems through their expert knowledge of 
regulations and sustainable billing practices.   
 
Therefore, the ORC Recovery Team views all of these systems as opportunities to assist providers with 
free ongoing training and education.  By doing so, we ensure that our local providers are operating from a 
best practice lens when it comes to opioid addiction, enhancing the quality of care and support available 
to individuals in our communities.  This initiative is crucial for keeping our providers up-to-date with the 
latest knowledge and techniques in addiction treatment, ultimately improving outcomes for those 
affected by opioid use disorder.   The timing couldn’t be better, as Senate Bill 425, passed by the New 
Mexico Legislature passed Senate Bill 425 in 2023, mandates the New Mexico Correctional Departments 
(NMCD) to provide Medications for Opioid Use Disorder (MOUD) to those in their custody.   This 
legislation aligns perfectly with our efforts to enhance prevention and treatment resources, ensuring that 
individuals in custody receive the necessary support for their safety and recovery.   



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  25 
 

OPPORTUNITIES FOR ENGAGEMENT:  

ORC BRANDING STRATEGY 

The ORC recognizes the importance of creating a strong brand for our collaboration. Effective branding 
makes our initiative recognizable, helping to build community loyalty and attract new members. By 
establishing a clear and consistent brand, we can foster a community of dedicated partners who share our 
values and beliefs. 

To enhance communication with our target audience, the ORC created a website. This platform informs 
communities and stakeholders about who we are, our efforts to improve prevention and treatment in our 
seven-county collaboration, and highlights our accomplishments.  The website also serves as a platform 
for community members to contact our collaboration and stay engaged with our activities.  The ORC has 
also developed a branding symbol that encapsulates our identity, values, promise, trust, and loyalty 
within our communities. Additionally, the ORC created a hashtag (see below) to enhance discoverability 
on social media platforms, making it easier for users to find our content and connect with our project 
goals. 

  



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  26 
 

 
  

STRATEGIC PLAN 

PREVENTION AND 

TREATMENT STRATEGIES 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  27 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
The FY 24-25 ORC Strategic Plan prevention priorities and treatment strategies were identified through 
comprehensive qualitative and quantitative analysis. As outlined in the previous pages, this process 
included the review of demographic data, evidence based research, and the facilitation of Stakeholder 
and Community Listening Groups, as well as structured interviews with stakeholders related to our county 
project. 
 

 

ORC PREVENTION STRATEGIES 
 
Prevention strategies are the planned sequence of culturally relevant, evidenced-based strategies, which 
are designed to reduce the likelihood of or delay the onset of mental, emotional, and behavioral 
disorders. Our strategic prevention efforts aim to reduce factors that place New Mexico youth at risk for 
opioid misuse and promote factors that will engage, educate and protect our youth, increase community 
safety, and save lives. 
 
Prevention Priority #1: Implement a unified youth prevention education and media campaign to prevent 
opioid misuse  
 
Prevention Priority #2:  Ensure and provide access to NARCAN training for all First Responders, School 
Personnel and Community Members 
 
Prevention Priority #3: Stand-up Stanford REACH Lab “Safety First” prevention education curriculum in all 

County High Schools 
 
These three prevention strategies will provide an evidence-based response to the County Stakeholder and 
Community Listening group feedback given to the ORC in the area of Prevention. 
 
Following are the guiding goals and objectives for each of the three priorities listed. 

  







 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  30 
 

ORC TREATMENT STRATEGIES 
 

The U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) defines health equity as “the state in which 

everyone has a fair and just opportunity to attain their highest level of health.” The New Mexico Opioid 

Remediation Collaborative is committed to investing Opioid Settlement funds into localized solutions to 
save lives and increase health equity among our citizens.  Meeting communities where they are at and 
enhancing or expanding the protective factors that are already in place will address health equity and 
increase the sustainability of the enhancements.  
 
Treatment Strategy #1: Increase and expand existing services to improve delivery and ease of access to 
Medications for Opioid Use Disorder (MOUD) and Opioid Use Disorder Treatment. 
 
Treatment Strategy #2: Develop a 7-County Navigation Model for improving access to services. 
 
Treatment Strategy #3: Expand and enhance supportive housing and non-medical transportation access. 
 
The synthesis of these three treatment strategies will result in an integrated approach that combines 
improving local OUD treatment, including Medications for Opioid Use Disorder (MOUD) services, effective 
navigation models, and expanded recovery housing and transportation, as requested by our communities. 
This will lead to healthier communities, reduced substance misuse, and improved quality of life for 
individuals seeking treatment interventions.   
 
  







 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  33 
 

 
 

 

 

 

REFERENCES 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  34 
 

REFERENCES 
Allocation agreement between the state and local governments (New Mexico Opioid Allocation 

Agreement and Addendum to the New Mexico Opioid Allocation Agreement), legislation  
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/2022.03.15-NEW-MEXICO-
OPIOID-ALLOCATION-AGREEMENT.pdf  (N.M. Stat. Ann. §§ 6-4-28 and 6-4-29)2 

American Psychiatric Association (2013) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5. 5th 
edn. Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Publishing 

Association of Schools & Programs of Public Health (ASPPH) (2019 November). Bringing Science to Bear on 
Opioids, Report and Recommendations from the ASPPH Task Force on Public Health Initiatives to 
Address Opioid Crisis. 

Bureau of Health Workforce, Health Resources and Services Administration (2022, September 
30).  Designated Health Professional Shortage Areas Statistics: Designated HPSA Quarterly 
Summary, as of September 30, 2022. 

Calcaterra SL, Lockhart S, Callister C, Hoover K, Binswanger IA (2022). Opioid Use Disorder Treatment 
Initiation and Continuation: a Qualitative Study of Patients Who Received Addiction Consultation 
and Hospital-Based Providers. J Gen Intern Med. 2022 Aug; 37(11):2786-2794. doi: 
10.1007/s11606-021-07305-3. Epub 2022 Jan 3. PMID: 34981359; PMCID: PMC8722657. 

Evans, E. A., Wilson, D., & Friedmann, P. D. (2022). Recidivism and mortality after in-jail buprenorphine 
treatment for opioid use disorder. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 231, 109254 

Henning-Smith C. The Public Health Case for Addressing Transportation-Related Barriers to Care. Am J 
Public Health. 2020 Jun;110(6):763-764. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.305638. PMID: 32374700; 
PMCID: PMC7204464. 

Holzinger, N. (2024). Increased Risk of Overdose Death Given Substance Use ED History, New Mexico, 
2016-2022. The New Mexico Epidemiology Report Volume 2024, Number 1. 

Johns Hopkins School of Bloomberg Public Health. (2023). Principles for the Use of Funds from the Opioid 
Litigation.  https://opioidprinciples.jhsph.edu/the-principles/ 

Lyden J, Binswanger IA (2019). The United States opioid epidemic. Semin Perinatol. 2019 Apr; 43(3):123-
131. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2019.01.001. Epub 2019 Jan 14. PMID: 30711195; PMCID: 
PMC6578581. 

Mace, S., Siegler, A. Wu, K., Latimore, A., & Flynn, H. The National Council for Behavioral Health and Vital 
Strategies. (2020). Medication-Assisted Treatment for Opioid Use Disorder in Jails and Prisons: A 
Planning and Implementation Toolkit. MAT_in_Jails_Prisons_Toolkit_Final_12_Feb_20.pdf 
(thenationalcouncil.org)  

Martin M, Krawczyk N. (2024). Linking Hospitalized Patients With Opioid Use Disorder to Treatment—The 
Importance of Care Transitions. JAMA Netw Open.7(2):e2356382. 
doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2023.56382  

Mental Health in New Mexico (2023). KFF http://www.kff.org/statedata/mental-health-and-substance-
use-state-fact-sheets/New Mexico, Accessed 09/01/2024. 

Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary (10th ed.). (1999). Merriam-Webster Incorporated. 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  35 
 

National Association of Counties (2023, February) The Principles: A Quick Guide to Conducting a Needs 
Assessment: National Association of Counties, Opioid Solution Center, & John Hopkins School of 
Health.  https://www.naco.org/resources/opioid-solutions/principles-quick-guide.  
https://www.naco.org/sites/default/files/documents/OSC QuickGuide NeedsAssessment.pdf 

National Association of Counties (NACo) (2024, January). Advancing Health Equity Through County Opioid 
Abatement Strategies.  

National Institutes of Health. (2022). “Treatment for Opioid Use Disorder in Jail Reduces Risk of Return”. 
Treatment for opioid use disorder in jail reduces risk of return | National Institutes of Health (NIH)  

New Mexico Department of Health, (2020). New Mexico Substance Use Disorder Treatment Gap Analysis. 
https://www.nmhealth.org/publication/view/marketing/5596/ 

New Mexico Department of Health (2022). New Mexico Substance Use Epidemiology Profile. 
https://www.nmhealth.org/about/erd/ibeb/sap/ 

New Mexico Legislative Finance Committee. (2023). Addressing Substance Use Disorders Program 
Evaluation Unit Progress Report  

New Mexico Legislative Finance Committee (2024) Hearing Brief, Update on Opioid Settlements. 
https://nashp.org/state-tracker/state-opioid-settlement-spending-decisions/new-mexico/ 

NIDA (2022, April 1) Drug use severity in adolescence affects substance use disorder risk in adulthood. 
Retrieved from https://nida.nih.gov/news-events/news-releases/2022/04/drug-use-severity-in-
adolescence-affects-substance-use-disorder-risk-in-adulthood on 2024, November 12 

Rand Corporation (2024) Strategies for Effectively Allocating Opioid Settlement Funds, 
www.rand.org/health-care/centers/optic/tools/fund-allocation.html4 

Schulman, M, Jasko, A. (2024, January). Opportunities to Promote Medications for Opioid Use Disorder in 
Federally Qualified Health Centers.  Center for Health Care Strategies.  

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Administration (2019). A Guide to SAMHSA’s Strategic Prevention 
Framework. Rockville, MD: Center for Substance Abuse Prevention.  Substance Abuse and Mental 
Health Services Administration 

World Population Review. (2024, October). World Population Data. World Population Review. 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  36 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
  

APPENDICES 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  37 
 

APPENDIX A: BHSD RUN REPORT 01/23/24 

 

  



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  38 
 

APPENDIX B: SCHOOL ASSESSMENT 04/11/24- Page 1 of 2 
SOCORRO COUNTY 

SCHOOLS 
TYPE GRADE 

LEVEL 
# 

STUDENTS 
Address 

Magdalena High  Public 9-12 90 201 Duggins, Magdalena, NM 87825 
Socorro High Public 9-12 499 1200 Michigan, Socorro, NM 87801 
Magdalena Middle Public 6-8 70 201 Duggins, Magdalena, NM 87825 
R. Sarracina Middle Public 6-8 217 1425 El Camino Real, Socorro, NM 87801 
San Antonio Elementary Public K-5 88 24th Street, San Antonio, NM  87832 
Midway Elementary Public K-5 87 9 Midway, Polvadera NM 87828 
Parkview Elementary Public Pre-K-5 359 107 Francisco AVAD, Socorro, NM 87801 
Magdalena Elementary Public Pre-K-5 120 201 Duggins, Magdalena, NM 87825 
Zimmerly Elementary Public 4-5 177 511 El Camino Real, Socorro, NM, 87801 
Cottonwood Valley Charter Charter K-8 180 2001 Neel, Socorro, NM 87801 
Faith Christian Private 1-11 211 703 Memory, Socorro NM 87801 
     

SIERRA COUNTY 
SCHOOLS 

TYPE GRADE 
LEVEL 

# 
STUDENTS 

Address 

Hot Springs High Public 9-12 361 1200 Pershing, T OR C, NM 87901 
Truth or Consequences Middle Public 6-8 298 1802 Pershing, T OR C, NM 87901 
Truth or Consequences 
Elementary 

Public Pre-K-5 366 1500 Silver, T OR C, NM 87901 

Arrey Elementary Public Pre-K-5 93 7 Arrey, Arrey, NM 87930 
Sierra Elementary Public 4-5 136 1500 Silver, T OR C, NM 87901 
Manzano Christian Private K-12 26 1300 Broadway, T OR C, NM 87901 
     

CATRON COUNTY 
SCHOOLS 

TYPE GRADE 
LEVEL 

# 
STUDENTS 

Address 

Reserve High Public 7-12 47 24 Mountaineer, Reserve NM 87830 
Quemado High Public 7-12 73 HWY 60, Quemado NM 87829 
Reserve Elementary Public Pre-K-6 62 24 Mountaineer, Reserve, NM 87830 
Datil Elementary Public K-6 18 7395 HWY 12th, Datil, NM 87821 
Quemado Elementary Public Pre-K-6 71 HWY 60, Quemado, NM 87829 
     

CIBOLA COUNTY 
SCHOOLS 

TYPE GRADE 
LEVEL 

# 
STUDENTS 

Address 

Grants High  Public 9-12 823 500 Mountain, Grants, NM  87020 
Laguna-Acoma High Public 9-12 181 Hwy 66, Casa Blanca, NM  87007 
GSSC Early College High Public 9-12 37 1500 Third, Grants, NM  87020 
Los Alamitos Middle Public 7-8 452 1100 Mount Taylor, Grants, NM  87020 
Bluewater Elementary Public K-6 73 15 Chess, Bluewater, NM  87005 
Milan Elementary Public Pre-K-6 444 404 Sand, Milan, NM  87021 
Mesa View Elementary Public Pre-K-6 449 400 Washington, Grants, NM  87020 
Mount Taylor Elementary Public Pre-K-6 409 1607 Del Norte, Grants, NM  87020 
San Rafael Elementary Public K-6 53 Loma Linda, San Rafael, NM  87051 
Seboyeta Elementary Public K-6 27 Hwy 53 BIA, Seboyeta, NM  87055 
Cubero Elementary Public K-6 256 28 Baca, Cubero, NM  87104 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  39 
 

APPENDIX B: SCHOOL ASSESSMENT 04/11/24- Page 2 of 2 
HIDALGO COUNTY 

SCHOOLS 
TYPE GRADE 

LEVEL 
# 

STUDENTS 
Address 

Animas High Public 7-12 82 1 Panther, Animas, NM 88020 
Lordsburg High Public 9-12 126 501 4th, Lordsburg NM 88045 
Dugan-Turango Middle Public 7-8 87 1352 Hardin, Lordsburg, NM 88045 
Animas Middle Public 5-6 22 1 Panther, Animas, NM 88020 
Animas Elementary Public Pre-K-4 61 1 Panther, Animas, NM 88020 
RV Traylor Elementary Public Pre-K-4 184 500 Ownby, Lordsburg, NM 88045 
Central Elementary Public 5-6 56 1352 Hardin, Lordsburg, NM 88045 
     

GUADALUPE COUNTY 
SCHOOLS 

TYPE GRADE 
LEVEL 

# 
STUDENTS 

Address 

Vaughn High Public 9-12 23 4th St, Vaughn, NM  88353 
Santa Rosa High Public 9-12 188 717 3rd, Santa Rosa, NM  88435 
Santa Rosa Middle Public Pre-K-5 202 116 Camino de Vida, Santa Rosa, NM  

88435 
Vaughn Elementary Public Pre-K-6 34 101 4th St, Vaughn, NM  88353 
Santa Rosa Elementary Public Pre-K-5 202 658 5th, Santa Rosa, NM  88535 
     

 VALENCIA COUNTY 
SCHOOLS 

TYPE GRADE 
LEVEL 

# 
STUDENTS 

Address 

Los Lunas High Public 9-12 1606 1776 Emilio Lopez, Los Lunas, NM  87031 
Valencia High Public 9-12 907 301 Bonita Vista, Los Lunas, NM 87031 
Belen High Public 9-12 1010 1619 Delgado, Belen, NM  87002 
Belen Family Public 1-8 99 4 Eastside School, Belen, NM  87002 
Los Lunas Middle Public 7-8 797 423 Main, Los Lunas, NM  87031 
Belen Middle Public 7-8 572 314 4th, Belen, NM  87002 
Valencia Middle Public 7-8 492 22 Marlink, Los Lunas, NM  87031 
Gil Sanchez Elementary Public Pre-K-6 247 376 Hwy 109, Jareles, NM  87023 
Katherine Gallegos Elementary Public Pre-K-6 623 236 Don Pasqual, Los Lunas, NM  87031 
Sundance Elementary Public Pre-K-6 509 3701 Sundance, Los Lunas, NM  87031 
Bosque Farms Elementary Public Pre-K-6 469 1390 Bosque Lp, Los Lunas, NM  87031 
R. Gabaldon Elementary Public Pre-K-6 354 454 Coronado, Los Lunas, NM  87031 
Peralta Elementary Public Pre-K-6 237 3645 Hwy 47, Los Lunas, NM  87031 
Ann Parish Elementary Public Pre-K-6 387 112 Meadow Lake, Los Lunas, NM  87031 
Los Lunas Elementary Public Pre-K-6 401 800 Coronado, Los Lunas, NM  87031 
Valencia Elementary Public Pre-K-6 366 111 Monica, Los Lunas, NM  88031 
Central Elementary Public 4-6 194 600 Picard, Belen, NM  87002 
Tome Elementary Public Pre-K-6 333 46 Chacon, Los Lunas, NM  87031 
Desert View Elementary Public Pre-K-6 391 49 Cmno La Canado, Los Lunas NM 87031 
La Promesa Elementary Public Pre-K-6 162 898 New 304, Belen, NM  87002 
Rio Grande Elementary Public Pre-K-6 276 15 Eastside School, Belen, NM  87002 
Dennis Chavez Elementary Public Pre-K-3 254 900 Esperanza, Belen, NM  87002 
Canon Christian Academy Private K-12 130 19381 NM 314, Belen, NM 87002 
School of Dreams Academy Private Pre-K-12 554 906 Juan Perea, Los Lunas, NM  87031 

 



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  40 
 

APPENDIX C: ORC COUNTY FIRE & EMS PAGE 1 OF 3 
 HIDALGO COUNTY TYPE * Address 

Animas Volunteer FD VFD, EMS 13 Maverick Road, Animas, NM 
Cotton City EMS EMS Animas 
Cotton City FD FD 148 Goat Camp Road, Animas, NM 
Cotton City Volunteer FD & EMS VFD, EMS 36 Hog Farm Road, Animas, NM 
Gila-Neblett Fire District FD 62 Franklin Road, Virden, NM 
Hidalgo County FD District 1 FD 300 Shakespeare St, Lordsburg, NM 
Hidalgo County FD District 1 FD 500 De Moss St, Lordsburg, NM 
Hidalgo County Ambulance   EMS 500 De Moss St, Lordsburg, NM 
Lordsburg Volunteer FD VFD, EMS 404 W. Wabash St, Lordsburg, NM 
Playas FD FD 2 Misilla St, Playas, NM 
Playas EMS EMS Nugett Place, Playas, NM 
Playas VFD VFD Nugett Place, Playas, NM 
Rodeo VFD VFD, EMS 21 Somoza St, Rodeo, NM 
Virden VFD VFD, EMS 110 Richmond Ave, Virden, NM 
   

CATRON COUNTY TYPE* Address 
Coyote Creek VFD VFD, EMS Sandy, Quemado, NM 
Cruzville-Apache Creek/ Aragon Fire & Rescue FD, EMS NM 12, Aragon, NM 
Datil FD FD Old Hwy 60, Datil, NM 
Glenwood Fire & Rescue FD, EMS US Hwy 180, Glenwood, NM 
Horse Mtn FD & EMS FD, EMS Old Thomas Ranch Road, Datil, NM 
Luna Fire & Ambulance FD, EMS US 180, Luna, NM 
Mogollon VFD VFD, EMS Fanny Road, Glenwood, NM 
Pie Town VFD VFD, EMS 5613 US 60, Pie Town, NM 
Quemado FD FD, EMS US 60, Quemado, NM 
Quemado Lake FD FD, EMS 29 El Caso Road, Quemado, NM 
Reserve VFD VFD, EMS 15 Jake Scott Ave, Reserve, NM 
Wild Horse Ranch VFD VFD, EMS 911 Round Up Road, Pie Town, NM 
   

GUADALUPE COUNTY TYPE* Address 
Anton Chico VFD VFD, EMS 1012 San Jose Circle, Anton Chico, NM   
Puerto de Luna VFD – Main St. VFD, EMS 1031 Paisano Rd, Santa Rosa, NM 
Puerto de Luna VFD – St. 2 VFD, EMS NM 91, Santa Rosa, NM 
Santa Rosa FD FD, EMS 21 N 4th St, Santa Rosa, NM 
Santa Rosa EMS EMS 224 4th St, Santa Rosa, NM 
Santa Rosa VFD VFD, EMS Rte 66, Santa Rosa, NM 
Santa Rosa VFD @ Guadalupe Correctional 
Facility 

VFD, EMS US 54, Santa Rosa, NM 

Santa Rosa VFD – Main Station VFD, EMS 21 N. 4th St, Santa Rosa, NM 
Vaughn VFD VFD, EMS 260 th St, Vaughn, NM 

 

 

 

*countyoffice.org 10.04.24 <https://www.countyoffice.org/nm-fire-departments/>, <https://www.countyoffice.org/nm-ambulance /> 

  



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  41 
 

APPENDIX C: ORC COUNTY FIRE & EMS PAGE 2 OF 3 

 
SIERRA COUNTY TYPE * Address 

Arrey-Derry FD Station 1 FD, EMS 1024 Garand Percha, Arrey, NM 
Arrey-Derry FD Station 2 FD, EMS 4500 NM 187, Arrey, NM 
Caballo Fire & Rescue FD, EMS 26 NM 187, Caballo, NM 
Elephant Butte FD FD 309 Rock Canyon Road, Elephant Butte, NM 
Hillsboro Fire & Rescue FD, EMS NM 27, Hillsboro, NM 
Hillsboro VFD Station 2 VFD, EMS County Rd B018, Hillsboro, NM 
Lakeshore FD FD 301 S Lost Cyn Drive, Elephant Butte, NM 
Las Palomas Emergency Medical/FD FD, EMS Cty Road Bo76, Williamsburg, NM 
Las Palomas VFD VFD, EMS 101 W. Las Palomas Rd, Williamsburg, NM 
Monticello-Placita VFD VFD, EMS PO Box 22, Monticello, NM 
Truth or Consequences Fire FD 310 E 9th St, Truth or Consequences, NM 
Truth or Consequences VFD VFD, EMS 310 E 9th St, Truth or Consequences, NM 
Truth or Consequences VFD Station 2 VFD, EMS Myrtle Street, Truth or Consequences, NM 
Williamsburg VFD VFD, EMS 305 Veater St, Truth or Consequences, NM 
Winston Chloride VFD VFD, EMS 10 Hwy 52, Winston, NM 
Winston Chloride FD Station 1 FD 104 Main St, Winston, NM 
   

CIBOLA COUNTY TYPE* Address 
Bluewater Village Fire FD, EMS 20 Pinon St, Grants, NM 
Candy Kitchen VFD, EMS, St 1 HQ FD, EMS 36 Rockwood Road, Ramah, NM 
Candy Kitchen VFD, EMS, St 2 FD, EMS Well Road, Pinehill, NM 
Cebolleta FD FD, EMS 96 New La Joya Loop, Paguate, NM 
Cubero VFD VFD, EMS 8 Camino Real Rd, Cubero, NM 
Fence Lake VFD VFD, EMS NM 601, Fence Lake, NM 
Grants Fire & Rescue St 1 FD, EMS 620 W. High St, Grants, NM 
Grants Fire & Rescue St 2 FD 700 Truman Ave, Grants, NM 
Lobo Canyon VFD VFD, EMS 80012 Horace Mesa Rd, Grants, NM 
Milan VFD, St 1 HQ VFD, EMS 803 Motel Drive, Milan, NM 
Milan VFD, St 2 VFD, EMS Febco St, Milan, NM 
Pine Hill EMS EMS Pine Hill 
Pinehill VFD VFD, EMS Indian Service Route 140, Pinehill NM 
Pueblo of Laguna Fire Rescue FD South Pajare Loop, Casa Blanca, NM 
San Mateo VFD VFD, EMS 4835 NM 605, Grants, NM 

 

 

 
*countyoffice.org 10.04.24 <https://www.countyoffice.org/nm-fire-departments/>, <https://www.countyoffice.org/nm-ambulance /> 

  



 

SEVEN COUNTY STRATEGIES STRATEGIC PLAN 2024-2026  42 
 

APPENDIX C: ORC COUNTY FIRE & EMS PAGE 3 OF 3 

 
SOCORRO COUNTY TYPE * Address 

Hop Canyon Fire Station FD Hop Canyon Road, Magdalena, NM 
Hop Canyon VFD VFD, EMS 204 Hop Canyon Road, Magdalena, NM 
Alamo Navajo EMS EMS Magdalena, NM 
Magdalena Fire & Rescue FD, EMS 700 1st St, Magdalena, NM 
Magdalena FD FD 102 N Main St., Magdalena, NM 
Midway VFD & Rescue VFD, EMS 13 Chambon Rd, Lemitar, NM 
San Antonio Fire & Rescue FD, EMS 1770 NM 1, Socorro, NM 
Socorro Ambulance EMS Socorro, NM 
Socorro FD, St 1 FD, EMS 200 Fisher Ave, Socorro, NM 
Socorro FD, St 2 FD Francisco de Avondo, Socorro, NM 
Veguita VFD VFD, EMS 1319 NM 304, Veguita, NM 
   

VALENCIA COUNTY TYPE* Address 

Abeytas FD FD, EMS NM 116, Bosque, NM 
Abeytas VFD VFD, EMS 387 Hwy 116, Bosque NM 
Belen FD – Main Station FD, EMS 116 S. 6th St, Belen, NM 
Belen FD – Substation FD 229 Coronado Ave, Belen, NM 
Bosque Farms VFD VFD, EMS 1455 W. Bosque Lp, Bosque Farms, NM 
Highland Meadows VFD VFD, EMS 22 San Pedro Rd, Laguna, NM 
Jarales-Pueblitos FD FD, EMS 424 Jarales Rd, Belen, NM 
Los Chavez FD FD, EMS 19662 NM 314, Belen, NM 
Los Lunas FD FD, EMS 465 W. Main St., Los Lunas, NM 
Los Lunas FD – Main Station FD 465 Vallejos Lane, Los Lunas, NM 
Los Lunas FD – Substation FD 1000 W. Main St, Los Lunas, NM 
Manzano Vista FD FD 311 El Cerro Mission Road, Los Lunas, NM 
Meadow Lake FD FD, EMS 755 Meadow Lake Rd, Los Lunas, NM 
Meadow Lake VFD VFD, EMS 775 Meadow Lake Rd, Los Lunas, NM 
Peralta FD FD, EMS 3 James Rd, Peralta, NM 
Rio Grande Estates Fire & Rescue Main Station FD, EMS 108 Rio Communities Blvd., Belen, NM 
Rio Grande Estates Fire & Rescue Substation FD, EMS 1651 Rio Communities Blvd., Belen, NM 
Rowe VFD VFD, EMS 63 Rowe Blvd, Los Lunas, NM 
Tome-Adelino VFD – Main Station VFD, EMS 2755 NM 47, Los Lunas, NM 
Valencia El Cerro FD FD, EMS 160 El Cerro Loop, Los Lunas, NM 

 

 

 
*countyoffice.org 10.04.24 <https://www.countyoffice.org/nm-fire-departments/>, <https://www.countyoffice.org/nm-ambulance /> 















County Road Closure Request Form 

Instructions: 
Please complete all sections of this form and submit it to the County Manager's Office.  All 
requests will need to approved by the County Commission.  Forms are due to the County 
Managers office by Monday prior to the scheduled Commission Meeting.  Incomplete 
forms may delay the review process. 

SECTION 1: APPLICANT INFORMATION 

Name of Applicant/Organization: 
Contact Person: 
Phone Number: 
Email Address: 
Mailing Address: 

SECTION 2: EVENT DETAILS 

Name of Event: 
Event Description: 
Date(s) of Road Closure: 
Time of Closure (Start and End): 
   Start Time: 
   End Time: 

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Shelly K. Trujillo 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

New Mexico Spaceport Authority - Spaceport Amer
Maja Perez
575-997-6808
maja.perez@spaceportamerica.com

4605 Research park Cir Las Cruces, NM 88001

Aerospace test at and around the Spaceport
Test articles will be dropped from high altitude

1 day only either March 6/7
8am to 1pm two hour window betwe   



SECTION 3: ROAD CLOSURE DETAILS 

Specific Road(s) to be Closed: 
Location/Exact Boundaries of Closure: 
Estimated Number of Attendees: 

SECTION 4: TRAFFIC AND SAFETY PLAN (Please attach documentation) 

Proposed Detour Route: 

Emergency Plan: 

Traffic Control Plan: 

SECTION 5: ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS (Please attach 
documentation) 

Public Notification Plan: 

Insurance and Liability Coverage: 

Additional Resources Needed (if any): 

SECTION 6: SIGNATURE AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

By signing below, I acknowledge that I am responsible for complying with all conditions 
set by the County and understand that failure to comply may result in additional costs or 
denial of future requests. 

Signature of Applicant: 

Date: 

A13 between Engle and Mile marker 9 (Sierra/Dona Ann    
A13 between Engle and Mile marker 9 (Sierra/D     

N/A

I25

Spaceport Emergency Protocol and off site coordination with 
Sierra County OEM if need arises by calling 911

Sierra County Sheriff officers will be at each location of the closu  
to assit with the temporary road closure.

Ranches in the area will be notified as needed, the closure 
will be 1-2 hours max and should have minimal impact, primary traffic on this road is                     

Client responsibility 

N/A

02/05/2025



SECTION 7: FOR COUNTY USE ONLY 

Road Department Review 
Recommendation:   Approve   Approve with Conditions   Deny 
Comments/Conditions: 

Sheriff’s Department Review 
Recommendation:   Approve   Approve with Conditions   Deny 
Comments/Conditions: 

County Manager’s Office Use Only 
Date of County Commission Meeting: 
County Commission Decision:   Approve   Approve with Conditions   Deny 
Additional Notes/Conditions: 

Approved by County Commission on: 

Signature of County Manager: 

Date: 



 

 
4605 Research Park Circle, Suite A • Las Cruces, NM 88001 • P (575) 267-8500 • www.spaceportamerica.com 

Insurance. Customer must carry comprehensive general liability insurance or, alternatively, 
will provide suf�icient proof of self-insurance, for advertising liability, premises liability 
contractual liability and products/completed operations of no less than one million dollars 
combined single limit per occurrence and in the aggregate as respects products. Customer will 
also procure and maintain policies of insurance for bodily injury, including death, property 
damage, and vehicle liability insurance for all vehicles used in its operation at, to, or from, the 
Spaceport, in amounts not less than one million dollars per occurrence. Said policies of 
insurance will include coverage for premises, activities off premises and operations involving 
the Mission and Customer’s contractual liability to the Authority under this Agreement. 
Contractual liability coverage will speci�ically insure Indemni�ication provisions of this 
Agreement to the maximum extent possible consistent with the conditions and exclusions of 
the policy. Customer shall furnish a certi�icate of insurance for these polices to Authority upon 
request. The insurance coverage required hereunder shall name the following as additional 
insured parties: 

New Mexico 
Spaceport 
Authority 4605 
Research Park 
Circle Suite A Las 
Cruces, NM 88001 
575-267-8500 

State Land Office/Commissioner of Public Lands 

P.O. Box 1148 
Santa Fe 
NM 
87504-
1148 505-
827-5760 

The amounts of insurance required in this Section are minimums only; the Authority will be 
entitled to the full benefit and protection of any higher dollar amount of coverage stated in an 
insurance policy actually carried by Customer. The insurance requirements set forth in this 
Agreement will not be construed as a representation by the Authority that the satisfaction of 
such requirements will be sufficient to protect Customer. 
 
 



 

 
4605 Research Park Circle, Suite A • Las Cruces, NM 88001 • P (575) 267-8500 • www.spaceportamerica.com 

 
 



 

901 E. University Ave Suite 965L • Las Cruces, NM 88001 • P (575) 373-6110 • F (575) 373-6120 • www.spaceportamerica.com 

 
 
Closure area requested in red 
Just south of Engle, NM to before the Dona Ana County line on A013 
 



         

   
  

  
  

 

 
 

 
 

     
     

 
 

  

 

       

               
             
 

                 
                 

        

 
   

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

  

  

     



  
  

   
     

 
 

 
    

 

   

   

 

  

        

 
    

  

  

  



   

      

   
  

 

 
 

 
    

       

   

   

 

 

  

   

   

 

 
    

 

     

      

    

     

     

               

      

                      



   

   
  

 
    

 

 
  

  
  
  

 

 
    

  
     

  

 

 
 

  
  

  

 
  

  
  
  

 
 

  
  

  
 

   

 

 

  

    
 

    
  

        
 

     
  

   
 

   
  

   
 

  
  



   

  

    

 

    

    

 

  

       

 

  

   

   

  

 

 

 

 

   

   

   

 
 

 

    
    

    
   

  

 

      

  

     

    

    
    

 

   

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

   

   

 

 

    

   
  

   

    

    

   

   

   

  

 

 

  



     

   
  

 
    

         
      

 
         
  

         
       

         
 
         
      

         
 

  

         
      

         
 

 

         
      

         

         
 
         
      

         
 
         
       

        
 



   

   
  

 
      

         
      

         
 
         
      

        

           

       

          

       
    
         

       

         
       

    
           

       

         
       

    
           

       

         
       

    
         

       





























































 

      

           

        

 

             

             

           

 

            

         

              

           

    

             

             

           

          

         

   

          

             

            

 

            

         

       

   



            

             

            

 

             

         

  

  

            

           

   

           

           

   

            

            

       

           

         

  

             

           

          

     

         

   

            

 

            

        

          

           

            

       

          

           

        

   



            

                 

         

     

            

             

     

             

               

 

 

               

         

               

            

             

              

             

     

   



  

          

           

           

             

    

    

              

             

             

              

            

               

              

              

            

             

     

    

          

              

           

              

             

  

             

             

   

              

              

              

            

           

   



     

  

   

    

   

      

       

       

   

     

    

      

   

 

            

   

         

   



          
         

        

      

    

  

  

  

          

  

   

   



       

 

 

   

   



  

         
         

         
         

 

  

          
        

       

          
           

   

         
           

          
    

            
         

        

             
         

         
        

    

         
       
          

         
 

          
         
         

   



       

         
         

          
         

       
           

 

           
      
         

         
 

    
 

  
  

  



  
     

          

           
             

      

              
                 

     

              
              

           

           
           

           
         

           
            

            
            

           
           

           
             

            
            

         

              
            

            
       

               
            
            



               
 

              
               

               
                 

                 
              

              
              

      

             
             

             
             

             
             
         

             

                
                

             
     

           

            
     

                 
           

            
        

            
             

           
       



             
                

                
             

              
               
             

            

              
               

               
             

             
         

              
             

        

              
          

            

      

  



 
 

SIERRA COUNTY 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

RESOLUTION 2025-18 
 

A RESOLUTION APPOINTING MEMBERS TO THE BOARD OF REGISTRATION 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra County met in a duly noticed, 
regular Commission meeting on February 18, 2025, at 10:00 A.M. in the Sierra County 
Administration Building, 1712 North Date Street, Truth or Consequences, NM 87901; and,   

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of the County of Sierra exercises the 
powers of the County as a body politic and corporate pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 4-38-
1(1884); and,  

WHEREAS, the New Mexico Election Code (Chapter 1 NMSA 1978) establishes the 
Board of Registration, which consists of five (5) voters in each county who shall serve from July 
1 of an odd-numbered year until June 30th of the next succeeding odd-numbered year.  Members 
of the Board of Registration shall hold office until their successors are appointed and qualified; 
and 

WHEREAS, the National Voter Registration Act of 1993 (“NVRA”) (52 U.S.C. Sections 
20501 to 20511) was enacted in part to require states to permit eligible persons to register to vote 
in federal elections when applying for an initial or renewed driver’s license; and 

WHEREAS, the NVRA was also enacted to enhance voter participation in elections, to 
increase the number of registered voters, to ensure that states maintained accurate voter rolls, and 
to protect the integrity of elections; and, 

WHEREAS, the Election Code establishes the duties of a county’s Board of Registration, 
which include but are not limited to: 

a. Reviewing the list of eligible voters following a general in satisfaction of the 
NVRA;  

b. Directing the county clerk, in satisfaction of the NVRA, to cancel the 
registration of any voter who has been sent notice in conformance with Section 



1-4-28(E) of the Election Code, where the voter has failed to respond to the 
notice and has not voted, or has confirmed a change of residence to a place 
outside the county; and 

c. Carrying out other list maintenance provisions of the NVRA and the Election 
Code; and, 

 WHEREAS, members of the Board of Registration shall qualify by taking and filing in 
the Office of the County Clerk the oath required of county officials. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of County Commissioners of 
Sierra County that the following voters are hereby appointed to the Board of Registration: 

1. Cindy Torres     Party: Republican 
2. Julie Crespin                Party: Democrat 
3. Jacqueline Bentley                   Party: Republican 

Alternates: 

1. Mary Jo Montgomery    Party: Republican 
2. Connie Griego     Party: Democrat 
3. Patsy Lucero     Party: Republican 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the appointed members of 
the Board of Registration shall carry out the duties required of them by the National Voter 
Registration Act and the Election Code, that their term of service shall run from adoption of this 
Resolution until June 30, 2025, but shall hold their office until their successors are appointed and 
qualified, and that, in the event a position on the Board of Registration becomes vacant for any 
reasons described in Section 10-3-1 NMSA 1978, the Board of County Commissioners shall 
appoint a replacement who shall qualify pursuant to Section 1-4-34(B) and serve until the 
expiration of the original term. 

APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED on this 18th day of February, 2025. 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF THE COUNTY OF SIERRA 
 

__________________________________             ____________________________________ 

              Travis Day, Chair                                   James Paxon, Vice-Chair 

______________________________________ 

Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 

Attest: 

_________________________________ 

Amy Whitehead, County Clerk 

( 





 
 
 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 18th DAY OF FEBRUARY 2025. 
 
 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS  SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO  
  
 
    ____________________________ 
ATTEST:    TRAVIS DAY, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
    ____________________________ 
    HANK HOPKINS COMMISSIONER 
 
 
_____________________________  ____________________________ 
AMY WHITEHEAD, COUNTY CLERK  JAMES PAXON, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
 

          
       

         

          
              

          
            

            
          

          
            
            

           

           

  

     

  

            
            
            
  

2025-20


